CONFIDENTIAL

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO.2006-KA-00799-COA

ANTHONY ROBINSON

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

FILED

DEC 27 2006

OFFICE OF THE CLERK
SUPREME COURT
COURT OF APPEALS

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MADISON COUNTY

BRIEF OF APPELLANT
ANTHONY ROBINSON

Oral Argument Is Not Requested

Ross R. Barnett, Jr.
Attorney for Appellant
Anthony Robinson
MSB [REDACTED]
Barnett Law Firm
501 South State Street
Jackson, Mississippi 39201-5306
601-948-6640

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO.2006-KA-00799-COA

ANTHONY ROBINSON

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

IV. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- A. EITHER THE MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT OR THE MOTION TO SET ASIDE VERDICT OR FOR A NEW TRIAL SHOULD HAVE BEEN GRANTED BECAUSE THE VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.
 - 1. There Was No Proof of the Violation Charged.
 - 2. There Was Insufficient Proof of Forcible Rape.
- B. THE SENTENCE IMPOSED BY THE TRIAL COURT WAS EXCESSIVE.

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. PROCEEDINGS BELOW.

Anthony Robinson [Robinson] was indicted July 1, 2001, by a Grand Jury of Madison County for forcible sexual intercourse with Sheila Lacey [Lacey] in violation of Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-65 (a).¹ CP 5, RE 13. Robinson was tried February 1, 2006, [CP 79, RE 16] convicted of forcible rape "as charged in the indictment," [CP 79, RE 16] and sentenced to 25 years in the state penitentiary. CP 80-81, RE 17-18. Robinson's motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict and for new trial [CP 82-83] and his motion to reduce or suspend his sentence [CP 89-90] were denied. CP 91, RE 23, CP 92, RE 24.

B. FACTS OF THE CASE.

Sheila Lacey called the sheriff's office during the early hours of Sunday, April 29, 2001. Deputy Otha "Jaybird" Brown was dispatched to her apartment in response to her call. T 51. Upon Deputy Brown's arrival, Lacey told him she had heard a knock on her

¹This statute deals with statutory rape, not forcible rape. This issue will be discussed below.

door and opened it, thinking it was her brother. She told Deputy Brown the visitor turned out to be Robinson, who lived in the same apartment complex. T 77. Lacey had known Robinson for "four of five" years. T 44. Robinson, she said, entered the apartment and raped her on the living room couch. T 77.

Deputy Brown took Lacey in his car to University hospital where a rape kit was collected from her. T 79. About an hour and a half later, Deputy Brown took Lacey back to her apartment. T 80. Brown then went to the apartment identified by Lacey as Robinson's and knocked on the door. T 82. Brown told Robinson he was being arrested for the rape of Lacey. T 83. Robinson denied the charge, saying that he'd been "nowhere near [Lacey] that night." T 101.

Brown took Robinson to Lacey's apartment and asked her if Robinson was the man who raped her. T 83. Lacey identified Robinson as her assailant. T 83. Brown was subsequently indicted for the rape of Lacey. CP 5, RE 13. As noted above, he was tried on that indictment, [CP 79, RE 16] convicted, [CP 79, RE 16] and sentenced. CP 80-81, RE 17-18.

VI. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A. EITHER THE MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT OR THE MOTION TO SET ASIDE VERDICT OR FOR A NEW TRIAL SHOULD HAVE BEEN GRANTED BECAUSE THE VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

1. There Was No Proof of the Violation Charged.

Robinson was charged with "forcible sexual intercourse with Sheila Lacey" in violation of Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-65 (a). The Jury convicted Robinson of "forcible rape as charged in the

indictment." Yet, the code section recited in the indictment is about statutory rape, not forcible rape. This case must be reversed and judgment rendered acquitting Robinson.

2. There Was Insufficient Proof of Forcible Rape.

Where the evidence is such that on one or more elements of the offense charged no reasonable hypothetical juror could have resolved the issue against the defendant beyond a reasonable doubt, the Supreme Court has no authority to affirm and must order the defendant discharged. A reasonable jury could not have concluded beyond a reasonable doubt that the appellant, Anthony Robinson, raped Sheila Lacey. Robinson stipulated that he had consensual intercourse with Lacey around the date Lacey said she was raped. When Lacey's testimony is viewed in the light of Robinson's evidence, one can only conclude that Robinson should have been acquitted. At minimum, reasonable doubt existed as to the charge. A reasonable juror could not have determined otherwise.

While Lacey said Robinson had never been in her home prior to the night she said she was raped, Robinson had an intimate knowledge of her family and of the layout and furnishings of her home consistent with his testimony that the two had an ongoing relationship. Robinson's elderly aunt confirmed Robinson's testimony that Lacey had given him gifts.

A reasonable jury could only have concluded that, at minimum, there existed reasonable doubt that Anthony Robinson was guilty of the rape of Sheila Lacey. No reasonable hypothetical juror could have found otherwise. For that reason, this case must be reversed.

B. THE SENTENCE IMPOSED BY THE TRIAL COURT WAS EXCESSIVE.

This Court has said that unduly harsh sentences may not meet constitutional muster. The proof in this case was weak indeed. Mr. Robinson had no previous conviction. Yet, Robinson was given a sentence of 25 years. Appellant respectfully suggests that the sentence is manifestly disproportional, violative of the eighth amendment to the United States Constitution, and violative of the Mississippi Constitution of 1890, section 28. At minimum, this case should be remanded for resentencing.

VII. ARGUMENT.

A. EITHER THE MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT OR THE MOTION TO SET ASIDE VERDICT OR FOR A NEW TRIAL SHOULD HAVE BEEN GRANTED BECAUSE THE VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

1. There Was No Proof of the Violation Charged.

Robinson was charged with "forcible sexual intercourse with Sheila Lacey" in violation of Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-65 (a). CP 5, RE 13. The Jury convicted Robinson of "forcible rape as charged in the indictment." CP 78, RE 15. Yet, the code section recited in the indictment, § -65 (a), had nothing to do with forcible rape. Rather, it prescribed a penalty for statutory rape where the convict is between 18 and 21 years of age. In short, Robinson was convicted for a statutory violation for which he was not indicted. It has long been the law in Mississippi that a person cannot be indicted on one offense and convicted of another or convicted of a crime for which he was not charged. See *Talley v. State*, 174 Miss. 349, 164 So. 771 (Miss. 1936), and *Dees v. State*, 151 Miss. 46,

117 So. 369 (Miss. 1928). For that reason alone, this case must be reversed and judgment rendered acquitting Anthony Robinson of all charges.

2. There Was Insufficient Proof of Forcible Rape.

It is an ancient principle of law in Mississippi jurisprudence that, while a verdict of a jury should not be lightly set aside, a conviction cannot be permitted to stand where the verdict is clearly not supported by evidence. *Allen v. State*, 1 Miss. Dec. 126 (1885); *Conner v. State*, 632 So. 2d 1239 (Miss.), cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 314, 130 L. Ed. 276 (1993). Moreover, the state must make its case to a moral certainty. An accused need only raise reasonable doubt of guilt to be entitled to an acquittal. *Cumberland v. State*, 110 Miss. 521, 531, 70 So. 695, 696 (1915). Where the evidence is such that on one or more elements of the offense charged no reasonable hypothetical juror could have resolved the issue against the defendant beyond a reasonable doubt, the Supreme Court has no authority to affirm and must order the defendant discharged. *Bullock v. State*, 447 So. 2d 1284, 1287 (Miss. 1984).

A reasonable jury could not have concluded beyond a reasonable doubt that the appellant, Anthony Robinson, raped Sheila Lacey. There is no question but that Robinson had intercourse with Lacey around the date Lacey said she was raped. He stipulated that his semen was found inside her. T 41, T 172. Robinson, though, testified that he had sexual relations with Ms. Lacey with her consent on the night of April 27 (Friday) or during the early morning hours of April 28 (Saturday) [T 172] and that he did not

rape her during the early morning hours of April 29 (Sunday), as she testified. When Lacey's testimony is viewed in the light of Robinson's evidence, one can only conclude that Robinson should have been acquitted. At minimum, reasonable doubt existed as to the charge. A reasonable juror could not have determined otherwise.

Robinson, who held a job with the Madison County School district [T 156] and had no previous convictions [T 238], testified that he had an ongoing relationship with Sheila Lacey. T 161. That Lacey knew Robinson prior to April 29 is unquestioned. She told investigating Deputy Eddie Clark that she knew Robinson from the Neighborhood. T 112. She apparently had known him for four or five years. T 44.

Robinson testified that he used to "go" with Lacey. He had met her at an establishment called "Dee's Nightclub" shortly after he had moved to the Canton area. T 161. The two, he said, were frequently intimate [T 166]. Lacey also would occasionally send him gifts, such as money and cigarettes. T 163. One Valentine's Day she sent him a "red bag with a heart in it" that contained "some Hershey's Kisses . . . and a card" signed "Love, Sheila Lacey," as well as "a little napkin with some perfume on it" T 162. Robinson's elderly aunt, Stella Washington, with whom he lived at the time of his arrest, verified that Lacey did indeed give Robinson such gifts. T 128. Robinson testified he'd been a guest in Lacey's home on numerous occasions. She had often cooked for him. T 166, T 168.

Certainly Robinson demonstrated an intimate knowledge of Lacey's apartment and family life that he could not have gained from barging into her apartment on one occasion, raping her on the living room couch, and leaving, as Ms. Lacey alleged. For instance, Robinson knew Lacey had three girls and a little boy. T 163. He knew she had a brother named Leon, [T 165] and that she had a sister named Greta. T 165. He knew where her children slept in the apartment. T 164. Robinson also knew the layout of the apartment and provided a detailed description of Lacey's bedroom. T 164-65. Robinson also testified that he knew and talked with Lacey's children. T 168. His knowledge of her home situation proved he had been in her apartment more than the one time to which Lacey testified.

Lacey did not deny the truth of the details to which Robinson testified concerning her home and family. Neither did the state offer any witnesses other than Lacey to dispute what Robinson said about his relationship with Lacey.

Other aspects of Lacey's testimony didn't fit the facts, either. For example, Lacey testified that on the night of the alleged rape she opened the door to Robinson because the person knocking identified himself as Junior, her brother. T 49. Are we to believe that Lacey had known her brother all his life--over thirty years--yet couldn't recognize his voice? Before he raped her, Lacey said, Robinson hit her in the face with his fist "maybe about four" times. T 50. Deputy Jaybird Brown tried to bolster that allegation with his vague testimony concerning a supposed "scar mark" or "skin mark" on her face the night he investigated,

but he was never very clear about the nature of the supposed injury. T 77. Moreover, neither he nor anyone at the hospital took any photos of her to document the alleged "scar mark" or "skin mark." T 86.

In all probability, such a bruise never existed. It is hard to imagine that both the hospital and the sheriff's office would have failed to photograph a bruise on a woman who said she was raped. What is more, Deputy Eddie Clark, who interviewed Lacey three days later, testified that he remembered no marks on Lacey. T 112. Anyone who has been bruised knows that bruises usually look their worst about three or four days after they are sustained.

Lacey also said that when Deputy Brown brought Robinson by her apartment the Deputy pulled a piece of her hair from Robinson's beard. T 54-55. Yet the Sheriff's department did not have the alleged hair analyzed. The Sheriff's department, in fact, did not even collect and preserve the hair. T 83.

No one should be convicted of a crime as infamous as rape on such flimsy evidence. Plainly, Robinson gave a reasonable account for the physical evidence before the Court: he had an ongoing intimate relationship with Lacey. Plainly, Robinson knew details about Lacey, her apartment, and her family he could not have known from barging in for a few minutes and forcing himself on an unwilling victim. Clearly there was reasonable doubt that Anthony Robinson was guilty of the rape of Sheila Lacey. No reasonable hypothetical juror could have found otherwise. For that reason, this case must be reversed. *Bullock v. State*, 447 So. 2d 1284, 1287 (Miss. 1984),

B. THE SENTENCE IMPOSED BY THE TRIAL COURT WAS EXCESSIVE.

Appellant recognizes that the general rule in this state is that a sentence should not be disturbed on appeal so long as it does not exceed the maximum term allowed by statute, *Fleming v. State*, 604 So. 2d 280, 302 (Miss. 1992), and Anthony Robinson's sentence herein does not exceed that maximum. This Court, though, has also held that unduly harsh sentences may not meet constitutional muster. *Clowers v. State*, 522 So. 2d 762, 764 (Miss. 1988).

In the instant case, the proof of rape against Anthony Robinson was weak indeed. Mr. Robinson had no previous conviction. T 238. Yet, Anthony Robinson was given a sentence of 25 years. Appellant respectfully suggests that the sentence is manifestly disproportional, violative of the eighth amendment to the United States Constitution, and violative of the Mississippi Constitution of 1890, § 28. At minimum, this case should be remanded for resentencing. See *Davis v. State*, 724 So. 2d 342 (Miss. 1998).

VIII. CONCLUSION.

The foregoing considered, appellant Anthony Robinson prays that this Court will reverse the judgment of the court below and render judgment acquitting him of the charge of rape herein. In

the alternative, appellant prays that this Court will reverse this case and remand it for a new trial or resentencing.