### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**ANTHONY ROBINSON** 



**APPELLANT** 

VS.

NO. 2006-KA-0799

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

**BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE** 

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY:

CHARLES W. MARIS, JR. ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL **POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220** TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 16, 2001 a Madison County Grand Jury indicted Anthony Robinson (Appellant) on one count of forcible sexual intercourse for his April 29, 2001 rape of Sheila Lacey. A jury trial was held in Madison County Circuit Court, the Honorable Samac S. Richardson presiding. After the jury returned a verdict of guilty, the trial court sentenced Appellant to a term of twenty-five years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. Appellant's motions for JNOV and New Trial were denied. Feeling aggrieved, Appellant filed notice of appeal with this court.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Sheila Lacey (Lacey) lived in her Canton Estates apartment complex for approximately 17 years prior to her April 29, 2001 rape by Appellant. Lacey was familiar with Appellant's identification and name because he too lived in the apartment complex four or five years before he raped her. Lacey noticed that shortly after Appellant arrived at the apartment complex he stared at her and stuck his tongue out at her. Because Appellant's behavior concerned her, Lacey

made a point to find out his name from other neighbors.

Other than seeing Appellant in and around the apartment complex, Lacey had no other contact or relationship with him. Lacey had neither a social nor sexual relationship with Appellant.

The night before Appellant raped her, Lacey spent an enjoyable night out with her brother Leon. Leon was known by family and friends as "Junior." Lacey went home alone, while Junior stayed out with other friends. Lacey and Junior made tentative plans for Junior to sleep at Lacey's apartment.

At approximately 2:30 AM, Lacey awakened to the sound of knocking at her front door. The person knocking identified himself as "Junior." Lacey cracked the door to verify that Junior was knocking, but instead of Junior it was Appellant who pushed his way into the apartment. After Lacey demanded that he leave, Appellant informed her that she was going to be his "bitch for the night." Appellant slapped and punched Lacey several times before raping her on the couch. Appellant choked Lacey while he raped her. Appellant told Lacey that if she called the sheriff's department that he would "beat her damn ass."

Lacey waited two minutes before calling the sheriff's department. Deputy Otha Brown responded to the call. Upon entering Lacey's apartment, Brown discovered Lacey visibly upset. Lacey was crying and shaking uncontrollably. Lacey told Brown about the rape and he recommended that she allow him to drive her to the University Medical Center so that a rape kit could be performed on her. Lacey agreed.

Brown escorted Lacey back to her apartment. As they entered the apartment complex Lacey pointed out where Appellant lived with his aunt. Brown took the rape kit and other information to Investigator Eddie Clark before returning to the apartment complex to question

Appellant. Upon arriving back at the apartment complex Brown was invited by Appellant into the apartment where Brown informed him that Lacey accused him of rape. Appellant did not react when faced with the accusation. Brown Mirandized and arrested Appellant before bringing him back to the Sheriff's Department for further questioning.

Lacey signed a written statement before Clark. Other than his statement to Clark that he was nowhere near her on that night, Appellant provided no other statement about a social or sexual relationship with Lacey. Clark obtained a search warrant for Appellant's blood. The Crime Lab discovered from the rape kit taken on Lacey that semen was found inside her vagina. The Crime Lab also determined that the DNA found in semen from the rape kit belonged to Appellant.

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

#### **ISSUE ONE:**

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTIONS FOR JNOV, DIRECTED VERDICT AND NEW TRIAL?

#### **ISSUE TWO:**

WHETHER THE SENTENCE IMPOSED BY THE TRIAL COURT WAS EXCESSIVE?

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court did not err in denying Appellant's motions for directed verdict, JNOV and new trial. The sentence of twenty-five years by the trial court was not excessive.

#### ARGUMENT

#### **ISSUE ONE:**

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTIONS FOR JNOV, DIRECTED VERDICT AND NEW TRIAL?

The standard of review for a JNOV and a directed verdict are the same and implicate the sufficiency of the evidence. *Sheffield v. State*, 749 So.2d 123, 125 (Miss.1999). This Court in

McClain v. State, 625 So.2d 774, 778 (Miss.1993) held that amotion for JNOV, motion for directed verdict and a request for peremptory instruction challenge the legal sufficiency of the evidence. See also Coleman v. State, 697 So.2d 777, 787 (Miss.1997)(standard of review for denial of directed verdict, peremptory instruction, and JNOV are identical). "Since each requires consideration of the evidence before the court when made, this Court properly reviews the ruling on the last occasion the challenge was made in the trial court. This occurred when the Circuit Court overruled [the] motion for JNOV." McClain, 625 So.2d at 778 (citing Wetz v. State, 503 So.2d 803, 807-08 (Miss.1987)). On the issue of legal sufficiency, this Court held in Pinkney v. State, 538 So.2d 329, 353 (Miss.1988), that reversal can only occur when evidence of one or more of the elements of the charged offense is such that "reasonable and fair-minded jurors could only find the accused not guilty."

By contrast, a motion for a new trial requires "[a] greater quantum of evidence favoring the State." *Dilworth*, 909 So.2d at 737 (quoting *Pharr v. State*, 465 So.2d 294, 302 (Miss.1984)). Under this standard, reversal is warranted if the lower court abused its discretion in denying the motion for a new trial. *Dilworth*, 909 So.2d at 737 (citing *Howell*, 860 So.2d at 764; *Edwards*, 800 So.2d at 464; *Sheffield v. State*, 749 So.2d 123, 127 (Miss.1999)).

Accordingly, appellate courts defer to the discretion of the trial judge, and "[w]e will not order a new trial unless convinced that the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that, to allow it to stand, would be to sanction an unconscionable injustice."

Groseclose v. State, 440 So.2d 297, 300 (Miss.1983). Reversal according to the above stated standard, unlike reversal based on insufficient evidence, does not imply that acquittal was the only proper verdict. Bush, 895 So.2d at 844. Instead the standard proposes that, as the "thirteenth juror," the Court simply disagrees with the jury's resolution of the conflicting testimony-a

tantamount to one among the jurors themselves. *Id.* This being said, the power to grant a new trial should be invoked only in exceptional cases where the evidence preponderates heavily against the verdict. *Id.* (citing *Amiker v. Drugs for Less, Inc.,* 796 So.2d 942, 947 (Miss.2000)).

Appellant was indicted for forcible sexual intercourse, however the indictment erroneously includes the wrong statute number. Statute numbers are not required to be included in the indictment. This clerical error is one of form and not substance and failure to raise this issue at trial serves as a procedural bar.

It is clear from the "STATEMENT OF FACTS" recited above that the State provided sufficient evidence to show that Appellant raped Lacey. Appellant has failed to show this Court that "evidence of one or more of the elements of the charged offense is such that 'reasonable and fair-minded jurors could only find the accused not guilty." Appellant has failed to show how the lower court abused its discretion in denying Appellant's motion for a new trial. Thus, this issue is without merit.

#### **ISSUE TWO:**

## WHETHER THE SENTENCE IMPOSED BY THE TRIAL COURT WAS EXCESSIVE?

The general rule in this State is that a sentence cannot be disturbed on appeal so long as it does not exceed the maximum term allowed by statute. See Corley v. State, 536 So.2d 1314, 1319 (Miss.1988); Reed v. State, 536 So.2d 1336, 1339 (Miss.1988). This Court will review a sentence, however, where it is alleged that the penalty imposed is disproportionate to the crime charged. See Ashley v. State, 538 So.2d 1181, 1184-85 (Miss.1989); Davis v. State, 510 So.2d 794, 797 (Miss.1987); Presley v. State, 474 So.2d 612, 618 (Miss.1985).

Appellant forcefully entered Lacey's apartment. Appellant slapped, punched and threatened her. Appellant choked Lacey while he was raping her. Appellant was sentenced

within the bounds of the maximum years allowed. Appellant earned his time for such a violent act. The trial court's sentence should not be disturbed.

## **CONCLUSION**

The State respectfully submits that the conviction and sentence of the lower court should be upheld.